RECEIVED

Oct 25 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Robert L. Reibold, Administrative Law Judge

Docket No. 22-ALJ-07-0082-CC
Appellate Case No. 2022-001402

Coastal Conservation LeagueAppellant,

vs.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, Office of Ocean and Coastal
Resource Management, Price and Carolyn Sloan, Mark and Anne Tiberio, Michael and Laura
Schulte, and Northwest Properties of Hickory, LLC,
.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Leslie S. Lenhardt, Esquire

S.C. ENVIRONMENTAL LAW PROJECT
510 Live Oak Drive
Mt. Pleasant, S.C. 29464
(843) 527-0078

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Did the Administrative Law Court’s ruling that SCALC Rule 2(H) requires dismissal of the contested case constitute an error of law?**

- II. **Did the Administrative Law Court’s conclusion that the Final Agency Decision did not give rise to a contested case constitute an error of law?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Coastal Conservation League (“the League”) initiated this matter following two statutory exemptions recognized by the Board of Respondent, South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC” or “the Department”) involving illegally-placed sandbags on Debidue Beach in Georgetown County. The sandbags were installed by Respondents Price and Carolyn Sloan, Mark and Anne Tiberio, Michael and Laura Schulte, and Northwest Properties of Hickory, LLC (collectively, “Property Owners”) in front of their respective beachfront properties. At the time of the events giving rise to the underlying contested case, DHEC was actively pursuing enforcement proceedings against Property Owners for the same illegally installed sandbags. While enforcement proceedings were underway, on October 25, 2021, Dr. Paul Gayes of Coastal Carolina University contacted DHEC and requested an exemption from established state policy, statutes, and regulations to study the sandbags, presumably, but not explicitly pursuant to, Section 48-39-130(D)(2) of the Beachfront Management Act (“research exemption”). Dr. Gayes’ research proposal consisted of observing the installed sandbags and covering them with sand from a previously-permitted beach renourishment project to create artificial dunes. DHEC staff reviewed Dr. Gayes’ research proposal and rejected the requested exemption. Subsequently, the Property Owners—not Paul Gayes—filed a Request for Final Review Conference with the DHEC Board; they did not identify Dr. Gayes as a party to the proceedings. Following the Final Review Conference, the DHEC Board issued an order on February 10, 2022, reversing DHEC staff and allowing the illegal sandbags to remain in place pursuant to not only the aforementioned research exemption, but also under a separate exemption for “pilot projects.”¹

¹ S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-320(C).

On March 8, 2022, the League filed a Request for Contested Case Hearing. On May 10, 2022, Property Owners filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction. On July 25, 2022, Administrative Law Judge Robert L. Reibold held a hearing on that motion. On August 10, 2022, Judge Reibold issued an Order granting Property Owners' Motion to Dismiss on the basis that the Administrative Law Court ("ALC") lacked "procedural jurisdiction" to hear the matter. Following Appellant's Motion to Reconsider and DHEC's Motion for Clarification, Judge Reibold issued an Amended Order granting Property Owners' Motion to Dismiss on September 19, 2022. On October 5, 2022, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal from the decision of an administrative agency, the Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) provides the appropriate standard of review. Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Motor Vehicles, 380 S.C. 600, 604, 670 S.E.2d 674, 676 (Ct. App. 2008) (original citations omitted). Pursuant to the APA, this Court may affirm the ALC's decision, remand the case for further proceedings, or reverse or modify the ALC’s decision if the substantive rights of the Appellant have been prejudiced because its finding, conclusion, or decision was:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Section 1-23-610(B). An appellate court “will correct the decision of the ALC if it is affected by an error of law, S.C. Code Ann. § 1–23–380(5)(d) (Supp.2010), and questions of law are reviewed de novo.” S.C. Dep’t of Revenue v. Blue Moon of Newberry, Inc., 397 S.C. 256, 260, 725 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2012), (reh'g denied May 4, 2012) (citing Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008)). Under this standard, a reviewing court may reverse or modify an agency decision based on errors of law. Turner v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control, 377 S.C. 540, 544, 661 S.E.2d 118, 120 (Ct. App. 2008).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts giving rise to this appeal began with a post-hoc justification for the Property Owners' violation of the Beachfront Management Act, S.C. Code Ann. Section 48-39-250, et seq., and the regulations promulgated thereunder. The Property Owners own beachfront properties in the Debordieu Colony residential development on the southern end of Debidue Beach, which are located landward of a long-existing wooden seawall along the seaward edge of their properties.

In 2020, Property Owners, who have stated they were "not satisfied with current regulatory options for addressing emergency erosion conditions on the beachfront" (R.p. 225.), and who apparently were undeterred by the law, installed sandbags without obtaining any permit or other approval from DHEC. In September of 2020, DHEC staff discovered the illegal sandbags and initiated enforcement activities. (R.p. 86.) For over a year, Property Owners refused to remove the illegal bags and forced the DHEC staff to engage in protracted enforcement negotiations.

Well into the enforcement process, Property Owners enlisted Dr. Paul Gayes, a professor at Coastal Carolina University, to use his position at the University to obtain a research exemption in an effort to keep the illegal sandbags in place. On October 25, 2021, Dr. Gayes submitted a "research study proposal" to DHEC for the purpose of studying what happens when sandbags are buried under sand. (R.p. 201.) Significantly, Dr. Gayes did not seek any feedback from DHEC on whether the proposed study qualified as a "pilot project" exemption under Section 48-39-320(C). Dr. Gayes described the study as involving the sandbags being covered with sand supplied through an upcoming and already-permitted beach renourishment project. DHEC staff reviewed the proposal and responded to Dr. Gayes on November 10, 2021, rejecting the requested exemption and specifically outlining why the sandbags do not meet the standards for either a research exemption under Section 48-39-130(D)(2) or a pilot project exemption under Section 48-39-

320(C); more particularly, the staff response explained why sandbags are specifically prohibited under the Beachfront Management Act. (R.p. 86.)

Dr. Gayes took no further action in response to DHEC staff's response, but the Property Owners themselves submitted a Request for a Final Review Conference to the DHEC Board on November 23, 2021. Notably, the Property Owners did not identify Dr. Gayes as a party to the Request for Final Review.

In its Final Agency Decision dated February 10, 2022, the DHEC Board reversed staff's decision and approved Dr. Gayes' request under both the "research exemption" (Section 48-39-130(D)) and the "pilot project exemption" (Section 48-39-320(C)). (R.p. 175.)

Appellant filed a Request for Contested Case Hearing on March 8, 2022, serving the Department pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-320 and serving the parties to the case (Property Owners) on the same day pursuant to Rules 5 and 11, SCALC. On May 10, 2022, Property Owners filed a Motion to Dismiss on the following grounds: (1) that Appellant failed to name and serve Dr. Paul Gayes with the Request for Contested Case; and (2) that SCALC Rule 2(H) is jurisdictional. Property Owners claimed the failure to name Dr. Gayes as a party to the proceedings and serve him within thirty (30) days required dismissal of the entire Contested Case.

Following a motion hearing on July 25, 2022, the ALC granted the Property Owners' Motion to Dismiss. Both Appellant and the Department filed Motions in response to the Order. On September 19, 2022, the ALC issued an Amended Order finding that: "Dr. Gayes should be a party and Petitioner was required to serve Dr. Gayes with a copy of the Request for Contested Case Hearing." (R.p. 42.) "Alternatively, the Court lacks jurisdiction because this matter is not a proper contested case." (R.p. 48.)

ARGUMENT

Property Owners, the only Respondents who have anything at stake relating to the sandbags on their property, succeeded in using jurisdictional gamesmanship in order to keep the League from revealing the lack of a legal basis to allow the illegal sandbags to remain in place and to protect their multi-million dollar houses by utilizing a college professor—who has never sought to be formally involved in any of these administrative appeal proceedings—as a cover for their refusal to comply with the law.

I. The ALC made an error of law in ruling SCALC Rule 2(H) requires dismissal of the contested case.

A. Paul Gayes is not a “party” under SCALC Rule 2(H).

The ALC found that “Dr. Gayes Should be a Party and Petitioner was Required to Serve Dr. Gayes with a Copy of the Request for a Contested Case Hearing.” (R.p. 42.) Appellant asserts that this conclusion constitutes an error of law, because Paul Gayes is not a “party” under SCALC Rule 2(H).

Rule 2(H) of the Administrative Law Court Rules of Procedure provides as follows:

Party means each person or agency named or admitted as a party or properly seeking and entitled to be admitted as a party, including a license or permit applicant. An applicant or licensee whose application or license is the subject of a request for a contested case hearing shall be deemed a party and shall be served with copies of all papers filed in the case.

(emphasis in original). The APA defines “license” as “the whole or part of any agency permit, franchise, certificate, approval, registration, charter, or similar form of permission *required by law . . .*” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-310(4) (emphasis added). Under the Coastal Zone Management Act (“CZMA”), an “applicant” is defined as “any person who files an application for a permit under the provisions of this chapter.” S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-10(A).

As the DHEC Board concluded, Dr. Gayes was seeking an *exemption* for research purposes, not a “license” or “permit.” (R.p. 173.) An “exemption” from licensing or permitting

means *no* license is required; hence, permission is not required by law. Section 48-39-130(D) provides as follows:

It shall not be necessary to apply for a permit for the following activities:

...

(2) Hunting, erecting duckblinds, fishing, shellfishing and trapping when and where otherwise permitted by law; the conservation, repletion and *research activities of state agencies and educational institutions... provided that* such activities cause no material harm to the flora, fauna, physical or aesthetic resources to the area.

(emphasis added). Matt Slagel, the DHEC staff member responsible for reviewing Dr. Gayes' proposal, further explained that the research exemption in Section 48-39-130(D) "allows an activity to move forward without going through the normal permitting process." (R.p. 621.)

Q: It was not an application that was submitted by Dr. Gayes. Is that right?

A: That's right.

Id. at 23.

Dr. Gayes also is not an applicant for the "pilot project" exemption. Section 48-39-320(C) provides as follows:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law contained in this chapter, the board, or the Office of Ocean and Coastal Resource Management, may allow the use in a pilot project of any technology, methodology, or structure, whether or not referenced in this chapter, if it is reasonably anticipated that the use will be successful in addressing an erosional issue in a beach or dune area.

Even assuming there was any evidence whatsoever that Dr. Gayes sought approval under the CZMA's "pilot project" provision and that he, as an academician, even would have been the proper person to request approval, that provision does not require an application or a permit, and the DHEC Board clearly acknowledged that the statutory provisions regarding research projects and pilot projects were *exemptions* from the typical permitting process. (R.p. 175.) The Property

Owners' Request for Final Review ("RFR") similarly took the position that Dr. Gayes sought "permit exceptions." (R.p. 239.) Gayes unequivocally did not submit any application to DHEC; therefore, under the pilot project provision, he is not an "applicant." His request did not require a "license" and he did not receive a license from the DHEC Board; therefore, he was not required to be named in the League's Request for Contested Case. Similarly, because Dr. Gayes is not an "applicant" or "licensee," he is not required to be "deemed a party" nor must he "be served with copies of all papers filed in the case" under SCALC Rule 2(H). This clearly exempts Dr. Gayes' request from all of the application requirements contained in Section 48-39-140 and the associated regulations.

Further, the statutory procedure outlined in S.C. Code Section 44-1-60 makes clear that Gayes is not a "party" for purposes of this analysis. Section 44-1-60 provides the procedure by which challenges to staff decisions giving rise to a contested case are made. Once a Request for Final Review is filed with the DHEC Board and the Board (1) decides to hold a Final Review Conference; (2) holds the Final Review Conference and votes on the matter; and (3) issues a written order, "[w]ithin thirty calendar days after the receipt of the decision an applicant, permittee, licensee, or affected person desiring to contest the final agency decision may request a contested case hearing before the Administrative Law Court, in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act." S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(F)(2).

The APA confers jurisdiction on the Administrative Law Court to "preside over all hearings of contested cases as defined in Section 1-23-505..." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-600(A). Section 1-23-505(3) defines a contested case as "a proceeding including, but not restricted to, ratemaking, price fixing, and licensing, in which the legal rights, duties, or privileges of a party are required by law ... to be determined by an agency or the Administrative Law Court after the

opportunity for a hearing.” (emphasis added). A “party” is defined as “each person or agency named or admitted as a party, or properly seeking and entitled as of right to be admitted as a party.” Id. at § 1-23-505(5).

At the time of the filing of the RFR, Dr. Gayes was not named as a party, not admitted as a party, and did not seek to be admitted as a party, either to the proceedings in front of the DHEC Board or the ALC; therefore, he does not meet the APA’s definition of “party.”

B. The ALC erred in concluding that SCALC Rule 2(H) requires dismissal.

The 2019 Revised Notes to Rule 2(H) provide that “the definition of a party makes it clear that the licensee or applicant is to be made a party to any matter which involves the license or permit, and that he shall be served with copies of all papers filed in the case.” Though the Rule requires a person or entity who meets the definition of an “applicant” or “licensee” *to be made a party*, it does not require dismissal of a case because that person or entity is not initially named, only that the “applicant” or “licensee” be served with all filings in the existing contested case. The plain language of the rule and its clarifying notes, therefore, do not mandate dismissal of the case, even assuming Dr. Gayes was a “party” under the applicable definitions.

The ALC concluded that Rule 2(H) requires dismissal because it imposes a jurisdictional requirement described as “procedural jurisdiction.” It is well-settled that subject matter jurisdiction is broadly defined as “the power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong.” Dove v. Gold Kist, Inc., 314 S.C. 235, 237-38, 442 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1994). Our Supreme Court has held that “the question of compliance with rules, regulations, and statutes governing an appeal [from an administrative agency] is one of appellate jurisdiction[.]” Allison v. W.L. Gore & Assocs., 394 S.C. 185, 188, 714 S.E.2d 547, 549 (2011). “The failure of a party to comply with the procedural requirements for perfecting an appeal *may*

deprive the Court of ‘appellate’ jurisdiction over the case, but it does not affect the Court’s subject matter jurisdiction.” Great Games, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue, 339 S.C. 79, 82 n.5, 529 S.E.2d 6, 7 n.5 (2000) (emphasis added).

The ALC cited a number of cases in support of its conclusion that a party’s failure to follow intermediate administrative steps at the agency level prior to requesting a contested case hearing deprives the ALC of “procedural jurisdiction.” (R.p. 40-41.) However, each is an unreported decision of the ALC, and none are controlling. See, e.g., Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR (“Memorandum opinions and unpublished orders have no precedential value and should not be cited except in proceedings in which they are directly involved.”). Appellant can find no case law supporting the use of ALC decisions as precedent to support the ALC’s contention there is no procedural jurisdiction here.²

Even assuming the ALC decisions can be instructive, they are not on point. Heath Hill v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control, 10-ALJ-07-0625-CC, 2010 WL 5781666, presented the fact pattern of a party filing and serving a request for a contested case hearing more than 30 days after the DHEC Board’s decision; there, the ALC applied the clear statutory time limits contained in Section 44-1-60. In Megan Bums v. S.C. Dep’t of Emp’t & Workforce, 14-ALJ-07-0017-CC, 2014 WL 784948, the ALC ruled that the Petitioner failed to serve the agency that issued the decision under appeal when she filed her request for contested case; again, those facts are entirely dissimilar to the facts here. Serving the agency is clearly a requirement to perfect service under S.C. Code Section 1-23-600(B), which requires that “[a] party that files a request for a hearing

² “It is rudimentary that courts are not bound by the decisions of other courts of equal jurisdiction. The power to establish precedent is lodged in courts of superior jurisdiction.”); People v. Hill, 834 N.Y.S.2d 840, 845 (N.Y. City Crim. Ct. 2007) (“A decision of a court of co-ordinate jurisdiction is not a binding precedent.”); Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Yungwirth, 940 A.2d 523, 528 n.5 (Pa. Super. 2008) (“While the Superior Court is bound to give due consideration to the decisions and reasoning of the Commonwealth Court, this Court is not bound to follow such decisions as controlling precedent.”).

with the Administrative Law Court must simultaneously serve a copy of the request on the affected agency.” Here, the League properly served DHEC.

The ALC’s Amended Order cites to Mears v. Mears, 287 S.C. 168, 337 S.E.2d 206 (1985) as support for its conclusion that “[s]ervice of a notice of appeal is a jurisdictional requirement for which courts have no authority to extend the prescribed time.” (R.p. 45.) This case is distinguishable and is not supportive of this conclusion. Mears was cited in another, non-binding ALC order, which ruled that a party did not timely serve the opposing party of a Notice of Intent to Appeal under the Appellate Court Rules, implicating entirely different legal authority inapplicable under these circumstances. Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004), also cited in the Amended Order, is even less relevant to this Court’s analysis. In that case, the Court held an appeal was untimely in the context of a successive SCRCP Rule 59(e) motion, where the motion did not toll the time to file an appeal.

The fact that another individual could have been named in the case but was not is not fatal to this contested case. Even if this Court agrees with the lower court that Dr. Gayes is a “party,” the remedy is not the drastic result of dismissal. The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure are instructive and specifically provide for joinder of persons needed for just adjudication:

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