**RECEIVED**

**Oct 25 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
Robert L. Reibold, Administrative Law Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-001402

---

Coastal Conservation League, .....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, Price Sloan, Carolyn Sloan,  
Mark Tiberio, Anne Tiberio, Michael Schulte, Laura Schulte, and Northwest Properties of  
Hickory, LLC, ..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS SLOAN, TIBERIO, SCHULTE AND NORTHWEST  
PROPERTIES OF HICKORY**

---

Randolph R. Lowell (Bar No. 16145)  
J. Joseph Owens (Bar No. 102794)

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

<sup>14</sup> Indeed, as discussed below, this appears to be the argument that the League is making in other sections of its Initial Brief. *See* Appellant’s Initial Br., pp. 19-20.

Even assuming, for argument's sake, that Dr. Gayes is not an "applicant" pursuant to Section 48-39-10 of the BMA, he nevertheless must be considered the applicant for the Research Proposal per the APA and RPALC. This is due to the fact that (1) he requested permission to conduct the Research Proposal and is responsible for conducting it, (2) that permission was granted to Dr. Gayes per the FAD, and (3) that permission was legally required to be given per the Department's regulation and additional factors outlined above. Therefore, as found by the ALC, Dr. Gayes should have been named and timely served as a party to the contested case proceedings and the ALC's finding in that regard is supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed.<sup>15</sup>

***b. The League's failure to name and timely serve Dr. Gayes must result in dismissal.***

Having correctly found that Dr. Gayes was *the* proper party to the DHEC Board's approval of the Research Proposal, the ALC then correctly applied that finding to the League's failure to name and timely serve Dr. Gayes as a party to the contested case proceedings, holding that this failure either divested the court of jurisdiction to review the matter or left a condition precedent to the filing of the action unfulfilled. In either case, substantial evidence supports the ALC's dismissal of the contested case. Further, the League failed to present any evidence that may have excused its failure in this regard, if any excusal was even possible.

---

<sup>15</sup> The ALC's Amended Order makes another important holding regarding the implications of the contested case were Dr. Gayes not made a party to it. Specifically, the specific relief sought by the League is a reversal of the approval of the Research Proposal so that the sandbags at issue cannot be covered with sand. "If, however, Dr. Gayes is not a party to this proceeding, he will likely not be bound by any order the Court might issue in this matter, and presumably could nevertheless proceed with the study." Am. Order, p. 7 [R. p. 044] (citing *Roberts v. Recovery Bureau, Inc.*, 316 S.C. 492, 496, 450 S.E.2d 616, 619 (Ct. App. 1994)). Notably, the League ***wholly fails to address this important line of analysis in its Initial Brief***, which would likely render any decision by the ALC on the merits of the contested case as a mere "advisory opinion." Am. Order, p. 8 [R. p. 045].

Title 44 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina and the APA delineate the specific requirements that the League was required to follow to initiate the contested case in this matter. Pursuant to S.C. Code § 44-1-60(F)(2), “[w]ithin thirty calendar days after the receipt of the decision an . . . affected person desiring to contest the final agency decision may request a contested case hearing before the Administrative Law Court, *in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act.*” (Emphasis added).<sup>16</sup> Similarly, pursuant to S.C. Code § 1-23-600(B), “[a]ll requests for a hearing before the Administrative Law Court *must be filed in accordance with the court’s rules of procedure.*”<sup>17</sup> (Emphasis added). Accordingly, Title 44 of the Code incorporates by direct reference the requirements of the APA, and the APA incorporates by direct reference the ALC’s rules of procedure. As previously outlined, Rule 2(H), RPALC, requires that the applicant *shall* be deemed a party and *shall* be served with copies of all papers filed in the case. Furthermore, pursuant to Rule 11(A), RPALC, “[a] copy of the request must also be served on each *party* and on the affected agency . . . in accordance with Rule 5. Proof of service must be included in the request.” (Emphasis added). Relevant here, Rule 5, RPALC, requires that “[a]ny document filed with the Court *shall be served upon all parties* to the proceeding.” (Emphasis added.)

As outlined by the ALC, the League’s failure to follow these requirements by naming Dr. Gayes as a party and timely serving him with a copy of the request for contested case within thirty days after the FAD divested the ALC of jurisdiction to review the matter. This is because “[s]ervice of a notice of appeal is a jurisdictional requirement for which courts have no authority to extend the prescribed time.” Am. Order, p. 8 [R. p. 045]. (citing *Mears v. Mears*, 287 S.C. 168, 169, 337 S.E.2d 207, 207 (1985) and *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 14-15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775

---

<sup>16</sup> See also S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(G)(3).

<sup>17</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-600(B).

(2004)). According to the Supreme Court in *Elam*, “[t]he requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, *i.e.*, if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to ‘rescue’ the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.” *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. at 14-15, 602 S.E.2d at 775 (citing *Mears v. Mears*, 287 S.C. at 169, 337 S.E.2d at 207). Relying on the *Elam* decision and the strict filing and service requirements outlined above, the ALC correctly ruled that it was “prohibited from ‘rescuing’ Petitioner from this fatal defect” because the League was unable to “cross the mandatory jurisdictional threshold of timely naming and serving Dr. Gayes as a party to this action.” Am. Order, p. 8 [R. p. 045] (quoting *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. at 14-15, 602 S.E.2d at 775).

The League’s attempts to distinguish the *Mears* and *Elam* decisions are unavailing. According to the League, the *Mears* case should be distinguished because it “was cited in another, non-binding ALC order” regarding a Notice of Intent to Appeal under this Court’s Appellate Rules. Appellant’s Initial Br., p. 11. Notably, in this case, ***the ALC did not rely on or cite to whatever separate ALC ruling the League is referencing in this argument***, which is not identified by the League.<sup>18</sup> Nor does it matter, as *Mears* is a Supreme Court opinion and binding precedent. As it relates to the *Elam* decision, the League asserts that the case should be distinguished because it dealt with the failure of an appellant to timely file and serve a Notice of Appeal following a Rule

---

<sup>18</sup> In their Motion to Dismiss the contested case, the Property Owners cited to multiple ALC decisions which stand for the proposition that the ALC lacks jurisdiction to review a case if appropriate procedure is not followed by timely naming and serving a party to the case pursuant to the *Mears* line of analysis. *See* Property Owners’ Mot. to Dismiss, pp. 7-10 [R. pp. 068-71]. However, none of those ALC decisions were cited to or relied upon by the ALC in the Amended Order.

59(e) motion under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (SCRCP). Appellant’s Initial Br., p. 11.

In effect, the League’s basic argument is that the elemental requirement for case parties to properly follow statutory procedures when challenging the decision of an agency or lower court should not apply here because that rule has never specifically been applied *by an appellate court* to a contested case petitioner’s failure to name and timely serve a required party, despite the fact that the rule has consistently been applied by the ALC. *See* n. 15, *supra*. This argument is simply incorrect and further ignores the clear import of those decisions to the case at hand.

The clear and simple rule to be gleaned from the *Mears* and *Elam* line of cases is, in fact, directly on point: the failure to follow the specific statutory requirements of timely filing or serving a required party to the litigation divests the reviewing court of jurisdiction to consider the matter. As noted by the ALC, “[w]hile Petitioner filed its request for contested case hearing within thirty days of the receipt of the Board’s decision, it failed to name and serve Dr. Gayes before the expiration of this deadline[,]” which was a specific statutory requirement pursuant to the analysis outlined in the previous section. Therefore, the ALC correctly ruled that the case must be dismissed.

Regardless, as further determined by the ALC, even if the requirement to name and timely serve Dr. Gayes was not a purely jurisdictional requirement, it was nevertheless a condition precedent necessary to properly maintain the action. As outlined by the ALC in the Amended Order:

It is well-settled that, where, as here, “[a] statute that creates a new liability and affixes the time within which an action may be commenced . . . [is] a statute of creation; **commencement within the time affixed is an indispensable condition of the action.**” Such an action **“cannot be maintained unless brought within the time allowed by that statute.”**

Am. Order, p. 9 [R. p. 046]. (emphasis added ) (internal citations omitted) (quoting *Knight Publishing Co. v. Univ. of S.C.*, 295 S.C. 31, 33, 367 S.E.2d 20, 22 (1988), *overruled on other grounds by McLendon v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 313 S.C. 525, 443 S.E.2d 539 (1994) and *Simpson v. Sanders*, 314 S.C. 413, 415 n.1, 445 S.E.2d 93, 94 n.1 (1994), respectively) (citing 54 C.J.S. *Limitations of Actions* § 30 (May 2022 Update)).

Notably, in its Initial Brief, the League *fails to cite or even address this “statute of creation” line of analysis*.<sup>19</sup> Instead, citing to “Am. Order, pp. 3-4”, the League’s Initial Brief states that the Amended Order decision wrongfully relied on “unreported decisions of the ALC” to support its holding based on “procedural jurisdiction” grounds. Appellant’s Initial Br., p. 10. It is unclear if the League’s reference to “procedural jurisdiction” is meant to refer to the failure of the League to satisfy a condition precedent necessary to perfect the contested case (*i.e.*, the statute of creation doctrine), as analyzed by the ALC in the Amended Order. *See* Am. Order, pp. 9-11 [R. pp. 046-48]. Furthermore, pages 3 and 4 of the Amended Order are in the preliminary “Background” section of the holding, which gives an overview of the facts leading up to the decision and does not provide any legal analysis or case citations regarding the same. *See Id.* at 3-4 [R. pp. 040-41]. In any event, as previously noted, *neither the Amended Order nor the Order on the Motion to Reconsider cite to or incorporate any other rulings from the ALC*. Therefore, this claim is baseless and should be disregarded.

---

<sup>19</sup> *See Turner v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 377 S.C. 540, 547, 661 S.E.2d 118, 121 (Ct. App. 2008) (“**[I]f respondent fails to respond to an issue in his brief, the appellate court may treat the failure to respond as a confession that the appellant’s position is correct.**”) (quoting *First Union Nat'l Bank v. FCVS Communications*, 321 S.C. 496, 502, 469 S.E.2d 613, 617 (Ct. App. 1996), *rev'd on other grounds*, 328 S.C. 290, 494 S.E.2d 429 (1997)) (emphasis added).

On the other hand, in the underlying Motion to Dismiss before the ALC, the Property Owners did cite to a separate ALC decision which provides a background of the statute of creation doctrine and applies it in a similar instance. *See* Property Owners’ Motion to Dismiss, pp. 7-9 [R. pp. 068-70]. Specifically, in *Heath Hill v. S.C. Department of Health and Environmental Control*, No. 10-ALJ-07-0625-CC, 2010 WL 5781666 (S.C. Admin. Law Ct. Dec. 9, 2010), Judge Anderson reviewed a case in which the petitioner failed to timely file his request for a contested case challenging a Department decision. At the outset, and citing the Supreme Court’s decision in *Mears*, Judge Anderson noted that strict compliance with prescribed time periods to appeal was required, and a failure to do so divested the court of jurisdiction to review the matter. *Id.* at \*3. However, because the *Mears* line of cases dealt with appellate review jurisdiction—whereas the ALC functions more like a trial tribunal in a contested case pursuant to Section 44-1-60 and review is *de novo*—Judge Anderson concluded that the *Mears* case and its progeny may not be “directly applicable.” *Id.* (citing *Brown v. S.C. Dep’t of Health and Env’t Control*, 348 S.C. 507, 512, 560 S.E.2d 410, 413 (2002)). Nevertheless, Judge Anderson determined that the petitioner’s failure to timely file was fatal to his case and the court’s jurisdiction to review the matter pursuant to the statute of creation doctrine, as follows:

[T]he Legislature has unquestionably established a prescribed procedure to seek review of these matters within a specific time frame. Under South Carolina law, a statute that creates a new liability and affixes the time within which an action may be commenced is a “statute of creation,” and commencement within the time affixed is an indispensable condition of the action. Although the failure to timely commence an action pursuant to a statute of creation is not a subject matter jurisdiction defect, such an action “cannot be maintained unless brought within the time allowed by that statute.” **When a statute both creates a cause of action and includes a time limit for its commencement, compliance with the time limit is a condition precedent to the maintenance of the action.** “Such a statutory time limit conditions the existence of the right of action, thereby creating a substantive, rather than

procedural, limitation on the right. **Bringing suit within the prescribed time is a condition of liability itself**, not of the remedy alone.”

. . . .

Therefore, [because petitioners could not historically challenge agency decisions under common law,] I find that Section 44-1-60 is a statute of creation because it creates a right which did not exist under the common law and fixes a time frame necessary in order to bring an action under it. Accordingly, though a party who fails to timely request a contested case hearing before the ALC is not jurisdictionally precluded under the holding in *Mears*, **its request is nonetheless precluded because the party failed to establish a condition precedent necessary for the Court to invoke its jurisdiction.**

*Id.* (Emphasis added; internal citations omitted).

As noted by the League (to the extent it was making reference to Property Owners’ analysis of the *Heath Hill* and other related ALC decision in their Motion to Dismiss, pp. 7-10), decisions by the ALC are not binding on this Court. However, as noted, the *Heath Hill* decision was not relied on or cited to by the ALC in the Amended Order, nor was any other decision of the ALC. *See* Am. Order, pp. 8-9 [R. pp. 045-46]. Instead, the ALC citations in support of the appellate review jurisdiction (i.e., *Mears* and *Elam*) and statute of creation (i.e., *Knight Publishing Co.* and *Simpson*) analyses are to decisions rendered by the Supreme Court, which, of course, are binding on this Court. *Id.*

In any event, Title 44 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, the APA, and the RPALC describe the specific conditions which must be satisfied by a petitioner to properly bring a contested case in this instance. In this case, the League failed to satisfy the most straightforward condition necessary to properly bring a case challenging the issuance of the FAD: naming Dr. Gayes—the party on whom permission was granted by the FAD—as a party to the proceedings and timely serving him with a copy of the contested case request. Accordingly, the ALC correctly

ruled that the case must still be dismissed to the extent the statute of creation doctrine is the applicable standard to apply.

The League is either unable or purposely unwilling to connect the straightforward legal dots applicable to the ALC’s analysis in the Amended Order. Dr. Gayes—not the Property Owners—is the person who sought permission to conduct the Research Proposal. Dr. Gayes—not the Property Owners—is the person to whom approval was granted to conduct the Research Proposal. And finally, Dr. Gayes—not the Property Owners—is the person responsible for conducting the Research Proposal and complying with the additional requirements of the FAD. Therefore, Dr. Gayes must be considered the licensee or applicant for purposes of the plan and unambiguous rules of Court and statutory requirements.<sup>20</sup> If those rules are not followed, then the relevant case law makes clear that the ALC lacks jurisdiction to review the case, or that the League failed to satisfy the most straightforward condition precedent necessary to properly challenge the FAD. In either event, dismissal by the ALC was appropriate and required.<sup>21</sup>

---

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